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Larry J. Schmits

The Quindaro site is the location of the mid-nineteenth-century town site of
Quindaro, the later post-Civil War African-American community of Happy Hollow
and, during the late ningteenth century, Western University, the first black school in
Kansas. Quindaro was established in 1857 and served briefly as a free-state port of
entry into Kansas Territory. The depression of 1857-58, its poor location, its
inability to finance a railroad, and internal dissension led to Quindaros demise in
the early 1860s. Late in the Civil War, African-American freedmen moved into the
abandoned town site forming the African-American community of Happy Hollow.
Freedmans University, founded in the 1860s by Eben Blachley, was acquired by the
African Methodist Episcopal Church and was chartered as Western University in
1877. Fieldwork correlated the archaeological remains of the town site with the
platted, nineteenth-century town-site lots and structures. Excavations focused on
both commercial and residential lots. Other features that most likely were associated
with the town site include building-stone quarries, lime kilns, roads, and bridge
abutments. Local legend associates the Quindaro site with John Brown and the
underground railroad, although historical research reveals little support for this
interpretation. The Quindaro town site can best be viewed as a failed mid-
nineteenth-century real estate development. The site is archaeologically significant
primarily because of the associntion of an extensive archival record with the
archaeological remains, which detail everyday life in a mid-nineteenth-century
Kansas community. The site also has considerable significance to the local African-
American community as a traditional cultural property.

The biggest boom Kansas ever had in the city line, or perhaps ever will
have, took place in 1857, continuing into 1858. To a half-dozen of the most
prominent of these cities, I wish to invite your special attention: Quindaro,
Delaware, Sumner, Doniphan, Palermo and Elwood.... Their “boom” con-
tinued for a year or two...today it would be difficult to determine even the
sites upon which some of these cities were erected.

As there may be persons who have never heard of the cities about
which ! am speaking, and who do not know “vhere they were located, and,
as the enthusiastic exhumist of cities, after they have gotten through with
Pompeii and Herculaneumn and other cities of the Old World may want 1o
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try their hands upon the lost cities of this continent, it might be well far me
to state, that they were all situated on the Missouri River.

Address of Col. C. K. Holliday, founder of Topeka
Kansas Quarter-Centennial

Topeka, Kansas

January 29, 1886

Quindaro was one of a number of Kansas territorial river ports estab-
lished in the mid-1850s after the passage of the Kansas-Nebraska Act,
which opened Kansas and Nebraska for settlement. The site (14WY314) is
located on the bluffs of the Missouri River on the present-day northern edge -
of Kansas City, Kansas, just west of Interstate 635 (Figure 1). In addition to
serving as a former Kansas territorial river port, the abandoned town site
developed into the late Civil War African-American cominunity of Happy
Hollow and in the late nineteenth century became the location of Western
University, the first black school in Kansas.

Browning-Ferris Industries (BFI) have proposed developing a 142-acre

area of the site into a landfill. Consequently, archaeological investigations
were canducted at the site from 1987-88. The archaeological program for the
project was carried out under the directive of a special-use permit issued by
the city of Kansas City, Kansas. The part of the site proposed for a landfili
covers two abandoned tracts that are owned by the African Methodist
Episcopal Church and the city of Kansas City but are leased to BFL. The site
has received considerable media attention, particularly because of its
alleged association with the Kansas Conflict and the underground railroad,
and interested citizens, including many opponents of the landfill, peti-
tioned the State of Kansas in 1989 to acquire the property as a state historic
site. The Kansas State Historic Sites Board of Review recommended state
acquisition of the site in 1988; however, legislation providing for funding
failed to pass the Kansas legislature in 1989. Litigation regarding the fate of
the site and proposed landfill has been ongoing since 1990.

The following report presents a brief overview of the site derived from
the research conducted during the archaeological data-recovery program.
This program, which includes both historical research and archaeological
investigation, is only partially complete. While the field investigations have
been nearly completed, analysis of the data generated was in its initial
stages at the time the project was interrupted by the controversy over the
landfill in 1988. The present report describes the historical development of
the site and provides an overview of the 1987-88 field investigations. The
concluding section evaluates the association of the site with the Kansas
Conflict and the underground railroad.
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THE HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT OF QUINDARO

The development of the Quindaro town site occurred during the
speculative boom in real estate following the opening of Kansas for
settlement by the Kansas-Nebraska Act on May 30, 1854 (Gates 1954:5). This
act provided for popular sovereignty over the issue of slavery as these
territories were opened for settlement. Within the first two years, settiers
moved into Kansas by way of the Missouri and Kansas rivers to as far west
as Manhattan and junction City (Malin 1984:224). Despite the fact that
Kansas had opened for settlement, little land actually was available for
preemption or purchase, since most land along the border in the eastern
part of the state was held by Indians or claimed by Missourians, Because of
the sectional controversy over slavery, settlement of Kansas was promoted
by politicians and immigrant-aid companies from both the North and the
South. The early established river ports—especially Leavenworth, At-
chison, and Kickapoo City—were largely controlled by proslavery Missou-
rians, although political sentiment in Doniphan and lowa Point was more
divided on the slavery issue (Fitzgerald 1988). The early free-siate settle-
ments established by northerners were located principally along the Kansas
River valley. Charles Robinson and Charles Branscomb, who were sent by
the New England Emigrant Aid Company to Kansas in 1855, established
the iree-state stronghold community of Lawrence on the bank of the Kansas
River (Johnson 1954).

As the tensions in the Kansas Conflict heightened in late 1855, free-state
speculators and land agents such as Robinson found themselves at a
disadvantage because trade along the Missouri River, the main transporta-
tion artery into the new territory, was controlled by proslavery Missourians
who attempted to prevent free-state settiers from entering the territory
(Wilson 1975:58). The soiution to flanking this proslavery blockade was the
opening of the Lane Trail in early 1856 at the railroad terminus in lowa City;
the trail traversed west into Nebraska and then south to Topeka. In addition
to serving as an immigrant trail, the Lane Trail also served as the principal
route of arms into free-state communities and later as the route of the
underground raitroad for fugitive slaves (Connelley 1921; Noble 1977).

Robinson and other free-state leaders also believed that the control of
river towns was required for the transportation and commercial develop-
ment of the territory {Wilson 1975:58). The options available to free-state
leaders included either the purchase of controiling interests in existing river
port towns or the platting of new towns. In early January 1857 the New
England Emigrant Aid Company authorized its general agent, Samuel
Pomeroy, to attempt to acquire a controlling interest in the town of
Wyandott (Hickman 1935; Johnson 1954). Failing this, the executive commit-
tee in March authorized him to establish a town on the Missouri River as
nearly opposite St. Joseph as possible. Wyandott and a site adjacent to St.
Joseph were the first choices because they were directly across the Missouri
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River from the terminus of the two projected railroads across Missouri--the
Hannibal to St. Joseph Railroad and the Pacific Railroad (from Jefferson City
to Kansas City). While these plans were being considered, Pomeroy was
approached by the proprietors of Atchison with an offer to sella controlling
interest in Atchison. [t was Pomeroy’s opinion that Atchison represented the
best site, and the New England Emigrant Aid Company made its largest
investment in Atchison in 1857, acquiring a controlling interest in the town.
In early 1857 another free-state faction, headed by Jim Lane, bought heavily
in Doniphan.

While these free-state groups were acquiring interests in Atchison and
Doniphan plans were being made for the platting of two new free-state
river towns, Sumner and Quindaro. The first, estabtished in 1856, was
Sumner, which was located just south of Atchison (Martin 1911-12). Major
development, however, did not occur until 1857. The driving force behind
the establishment of Sumner was a northeastern abolitionist, John N.
Wheeler, who named the town after the brother of Massachusetts Senator
Charles Sumner. By October 1856 Robinson had resigned his position with
the New England Emigrant Aid Company, and in November 1856 he and
S. N. Simpson approached Abelard Guthrie with plans for the development
of a second free-state port located between Wyandott and Leavenworth.
Guthrie had married into the Wyandot tribe and owned land just south of
the proposed town site. The site was selected and was named after his wife
Quindaro, a Wyandot Indian.

The location of the proposed Quindaro town site was about five miles
upstream from the confluence of the Kansas and Missourt tivers, or about
three miles west of Wyandott City near the first meander cut along the
Kansas side of the Missouri River and about two miles south of Parkville
(Figure 2). George Park—who was the founder of Parkville and the editor of
the Bentonite Parkville Luminary and who had previously assisted Robinson
in preparation of a pamphlet for the New England Emigrant Aid Company
(Johnson 1954:61)—also became an investor in the town site.

In 1856 Wyandotte County was stili part of Leavenworth County. The
extreme eastern part of the county between the Kansas and Missouri rivers
had been purchased by the Wyandot tribe in 1844 (Figure 2). The Wyandot
Purchase had been distributed to tribal membes in the form of aliotments,
and title to these allotments could be acquired by purchase. At the time of
the founding of Quindaro in early 1857, the principal existing cities in
Leavenworth County consisted of Wyandoti City and Leavenworth. Leaven-
worth County west of the Wyandot Purchase consisted of the Delaware
reservation and the Delaware trust lands. Existing roads connected Leaven-
worth, Lawrence, and Wyandott. Ferries that crossed the Missouri River
were located just below Weston at Rialto and at Parkville. Ferries also
crossed the Kansas River at Wyandott City and at the southeast corner of the
Delaware Reserve.
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Figure 2. Map of Leavenworth County, April 1857 (after Quinn 1857).
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The Quindaro town-site development was promoted principally by
Charles Robinson who, on January 31, 1857, signed a two-year contract
with Joseph Lyman, treasurer of the Boston Kansas Land Trust, to serve as
land agent for the company (Lawrence Papers n.d.}. He then traveled to
Boston in early 1857 promoting Quindaro on behalf of the Boston Kansas
Land Trust (Wilson 1975:61). The town was advertised extensively in the
North and many New Englanders invested. Despite Robinson’s former
connections, and recent assertions to the contrary (e.g., Greenbaum
1982:10-12; Johnson 1954:85), the New England Emigrant Aid Company
was not heavily involved in the Quindaro development. Correspondence
from Rebinson to Edward Everett Hale dated April 17, 1857, indicates a
considerable disagreement between the Emigrant Aid Company and Robin-

son over his plans for the Quindaro development. In that correspondence
Robinson states:

I offered the whole town to the secretary, one of the
Directors and the Agents of the Aid Co. in the fall of
1856 but they declined it...it will take something
besides the whiskey shops and proslavery influences
of Wyandott, even with the agency of Mr. T. [Thayer]
and the E. A. Co,, to prevent the success of Quindaro.
(New England Emigrant Aid Company Papers 1854
1909).

Despite the conflict with Robinson, the New England Emigrant Aid
Company did acquire ten shares in Quindaro in exchange for a saw mill.
This, however, appears to have been a simple business transaction to
dispose of a mill that was accumulating storage fees in Kansas City rather
than an attempt to acquire controlling interest in Quindaro.

The 1856 O. A. Bassett plat of the Quindaro town site (Figure 3) probably
was used as an advertising brochure for the sale of lots and is typical of
many of the town plats of the period. These plats often illustrate an
exaggerated town-site development and basically were just paper plats
{Dick 1937). The plat gives one the impression that the town was a level arca
with a network of graded streets. A park is shown, and a network of
proposed raifroads is shown in the lower map connecting Cuindaro with
cities in the east. Connections with the proposed Hannibal to St. Joseph
Railroad, which would have linked Quindaro with the northeast scaports
through the Great Lakes, are shown by the proposed Parkville and Grand
River Railroad. Connection of Quindaro with the DPacific Railroad, which
would link Quindaro with St. T.ouis and Cincinnati, is shown by a line
extending from Jefferson City westward through Kansas City and Wyan-
dott. In the upper part of the plat is a map of the Kansas River valley
showing the proposed Central Pacific Railroad connecting Quindaro with
Lawrence and Manhattan. Obviously, anticipated railroad connections were
uppermost in the minds of the Quindaro promoters.
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Figure 3. The December 1856 O. A. Bassett plat of Quindaro. This plat most likely
was used as an advertising brochure to promote the sale of town-site lots. Courtesy
of the Kansas State Historical Society.
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The Quindaro Town Company officers were Joel Walker, president;
Abelard Guthrie, vice president; Charles Robinson, treasurer; and 6. N,
Simpson, secretary (Figure 4}, The town site was surveyed and ground was
broken on January 1, 1857. The first building erected was a small structure
that was used as a temporary town company offlice. The first store was
opened in March, and the Quindaro House Hatel and the sawmill were
opened by April 1. In May, a considerable work force was put to work
grading the wharf and Kansas Avenue, the main street extending south
from the river. A large ferry boat was put into operation by the summet.

The newspaper, the Quindaro Chindowean, made its first appearance in
May 1957; the editor was J. M. Walden, and it was published until june 1858,
The first issue of the newspaper indicated that trees had been removed from
several acres, that grading of the hill to the wharf had progressed, and that
3040 homes had been built. The Chindowan (May 23, 1857} reported 36
stearnboat landings in one week. A road (see Figure 2) was built across the
Delaware reservation to Lawrence, and a line of stages operated by Aifred
Robinson left Quindaro each morning on a six-hour trip to Lawrence. Many
residents were reported buying stock, equal to their investments in Quin-
daro, in the Parkville to Grand River Railroad. In June 1857 a committee
studying the question of town organization deemed that the existing
Vigilance Committee was sufficient protection and that city government
was not needed. The committee did advise that a registrar of deeds and
wharfinger be elected soon.

In the middle of August 1857 the Chindowan (August 15, 1857) reported
that the town had a population of 600 people living in mare than 100
buildings, 20 of which were built of stone. In September, George Park, who
was traveling across the country promoting the Parkville to Grand River
Railroad, was so encouraged by the prospects that he sent word to add
another story to the warehouse he was constructing on Levee Street. In a
review of the years progress, the Chindowan (January 23, 1858) reported that
over one hundred thousand dollars had been expended in building and that
about one hundred homes had been erected. The population was reported
to be 800, composed almost entirely of businessmen and their families. The
trade from one hardware store, three dry-goods-and-grocery stores, four
grocery stores, one clothing store, two drug stores, two meat stores, two
blacksmith shops, one wagon shop, six boot-and-shoe shops, one livery
stable, four doctors, three lawyers, two surveyors, and several carpenters
was reported to total $125,000. Many of these had been in operation less
than a year. A free school had been open for six months, a literary society
had been formed, and a library association organized. Two churches had
been erected, one being a Congregational church and the other a Methodist
Episcopal church.

On January 23, i858, the Chindowan reported that a charter had been
sent to the legislature, and the following week a list of nominations for city
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Figure 4. Quindaio Town Company founders: Joel Walker (upper left), the Eomﬂ_mw.
ery town company president, lived in Wyandott and died in 1859; Zulm& OE.T:m
(upper right), vice president, married into the Wyandot Tribe and was financially
ruined by the Quindaro venture; Charles Robinson {lower left), treasurer, was 2
Lawrence resident, an agent for the Boston Kansas Land Trust, and a leader of the
free-state movement; 8. N. Simpson (lower right), town company secretary and
director of public works, was also a Lawrence president and an m._.&m_,: ?mm-m.EH
supporter. Photograph of Rebinson courtesy of the Kansas State Historical Society,
photograph of Guthrie and Walker from Connelly (i899), and photograph of
Simpson from G. Lewis and Company (1879).
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offices was published. The Chindowan (February 6, 1858) reported that
Alfred Gray had been elected mayor. Aldermen elected included W. J.
McCown, G. W. Veale, F Klaus, J. 5. McCorkle, E. O Zane, E. B. Magoon,
Wm. Lansing, Geo. Bodenburg, and C. Parker. P T, Colby was elected ity
recorder; Rollin M. Richmond, city clerk; Albert 5. Corey, comptroller; Wim.
Shepherd, treasurer; Geo. E. Budington, superintendent of schools; Charles
Wingard, attorney; julius Fisk, city marshall; Cyrus Gorton, surveyor; . B.
Welborn, coroner; R. M. Ainsworth, A. C. Morton, and Jacob Zinter,
assessors; Peleg Caswell, street commissioner; Frank M. Edmonds, John
Vanzandt, and E Durfee, constables; and T. P O'Mera, E Cook, and C. H.
Chapin, inspectors of elections. When the city council met in April, the
results of the March elections officially were confirmed. The Chindowan
(May 8, 1858) reported that wholesale liquor licenses were granted to Gea,
Bodenburg & Co. and Fisk & Richmond. Retail sales licenses were granied
to Charles Morasch, Henry Steiner, J. A. Bartles, and John Muhlebach.

If the population figures cited by the Chindewan for August 1857 and
January 1958 are accurate, the population of Quindaro had declined by
1860. The 1860 U.S. census listed only 588 people in Quindaro Township,
this included 432 BEuroamericans, 28 Native Americans and 29 African-
Americans. Quindaro Township included the two easternmost townships
{T105 R24E and T105 R25E) north of the Second Standard Paraliel, a unit
considerably larger than the town site. The age distribution of this
population included 291 minors, 109 persons aged 21-29 years, 93 aged 30—
40 years, 60 aged 40-49 years, and 30 over 50 years of age. The occupations
listed by the census included 44 farmers, 31 laborers, 10 carpenters, nine
merchants, three printers, two lawyers, two physicians, two engineers,
three clergymen, two hotel keepers, and one each of the following: soap-
and-candle maker, teamster, tinsmith, musician, lumberman, contractor,
trader, painter, grocer, postmaster, miller, millwright, mason, shoemaker,
bricklayer, blacksmith, and wagon maker. Many of the farmers most likely
lived outside of the city. Places of nativity listed by the census indicate thal
125 of the Euroamericans were from northeastern states, primarily New
York, Pennsylvania, and various New England states; 159 were {from states
comprising the Old Northwest Territories, primarily Ohio and Indiana; 32
were from Missouri; 89 were born in Kansas; and 99 were foreign immi-
grants, including 42 from Ireland and 33 from German states.

The prospects of the Quindaro town site, which had grown rapidiy in
1857 and early 1858, began to fade by mid-1858. This was due to a
combination of factors, one of which was the financial panic of 1857 that had
moved into the west by 1858 (Malin 1950:184-90}. However, in the spring
and summer of 1858 several new buildings were being constructed,
including the Jacob Henry Building, the most expensive structure erected in
the town. Gradually, though, the effects of the depression, which affected
the flow of investment into western development, began to be feil. Money



100

KANSAS CITY AREA ARCHAEOLOGY

began to disappear and credit became harder to obtain. Initially, the
depression was viewed as temporary, and the feeling prevailed that in the
fong run the town would succeed. The 1858 immigration season was poor
compared to the previous year, and many merchants and residents signed
notes to satisfy debts. As the economy failed to improve they were unable to
make payments. Notes were traded between residents as a means of
satisfying personal and commercial debts and were used almost as a legal
tender. In late 1858 and early 1859 both the town-site company and Guthrie,
acting individually, offered free lots to parties pledging to develop indus-
tries within the town (Guthrie 1858-63). Even these attempts to stimulate
business were ineffective.

Wyandotte County court records indicate that as the notes and other
debts entered into in 1858 became overdue, lawsuits were filed for collec-
tion. In March 1859, the first of a series of lawsuits was filed against the
town-site company. Within the next two years a total of 31 civil cases
involving the town-site company or its various partners were filed in
Wyandotte County District Court, the majority being filed between Febru-
ary and September 1860. Guthrie was a defendant in 25 cases, Robinson
was a defendant in 12 cases, and Samuel Simpson was a defendant in 13
cases. Guthrie appears to have been held responsible for more than his
share of the liabilities incurred by the town-site company and eventually
lost most of his property in judgments against him.

As litigation between the town-site pariners proceeded the town
struggled for success. Guthrie’s diary (1858-63) indicates that during 1858
and 1859 businesses in Quindaro began to close and move away. Residents
seem to have held onto the hope of a raifroad connection that would have
provided the needed economic boost to save the town. The Kansas Tribune
was established by Vincent Lane in Quindaro in 1860 but moved to Olathe
later that year. The only issue that has survived, dated September 20, 1860,
contains numerous references to the need for a raifroad and suggests that
the citizens of the Kansas Valley work together to acquire government
support for a rail line. The businesses that advertised in the Kansas Tribune
were reduced to three attorneys, one real estate agent, one collector, one
grocer, one dry goods store, one doctor, and the flour mill.

Taxes assessed in 1860 by Wyandotte County remained unpaid on a
majority of the properties in Quindaro. A delinguent tax lists published in
the Wyandotte Commercial Gazetie (July 2, 1864) indicate that the owners of a
farge number of the undeveloped lots were unknown. Outside speculators
apparently had abandoned their nearly worthless property in Quindaro
rather than pay the taxes due. The Ninth Kansas Volunteer Infantry was
quartered in the deserted commercial buildings during the Civil War, and
the troops reportedly tore up the town for firewood (Andreas 1883). C. M.
Chase (1863-73) described the town as follows:
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We visited the city in 1863 and found but one solitary
family there. A poor man and a crazy wife had
strayed into the hall of the hotel, and there occupied a
bunch of rags. One store with granite front and iron
posts stood as good as new, and various other build-
ings were in good preservation, but empty. Governor
Robinson Avenue was graded back into the bluff 75
rods, where it stopped leaving a perpendicular em-
bankment 20 feet high. Small cottonwoods had
sprung up in the street, and the owls were making
selections of choice localities for places of abode.

Chase visited the town again in 1873 and noted that the buildings had
tumbled down, the solitary family had abandoned the place, and Kansas
Avenue was covered with a fine growth of cottonwood. Wyandotte County
Registrar of Deeds records indicate that during the mid-1860s the town lots
were sold by county tax sales in small tracts along the west, south, and east
parts of the original town site. Freedmans University purchased approx-
imately 160 acres of the town site, including the landfill-project area, as
development began in surrounding areas.

Because of its free-state political sentiment Quindaro had a free black
population in the late 1850s. According to the 1855 Kansas territorial census,
the portion of the sixteenth territorial voting district excluding the Delaware
reserve, which is the modern equivalent of eastern Wyandotte and Leaven-
worth counties, had a total population of 1132, including 25 black slaves and
11 free blacks. Seven free blacks and 14 slaves were from Missouri. As noted
earlier, the 1860 U.S. census records list 29 free African-Americans living in
the Quindaro Township. These included the Joseph Taylor, Jackson Harris,
Gilbert Drake, and Edward Mason families, and Henry Walker. None of the
free blacks in Quindaro Township in 1860 were listed in the 1855 territorial
census. The free black community in Quindaro in 1860 appears to have
represented recent immigrants from various states rather than fugitive or
manumitted slaves from Missouri, since two people were born in Virginia,
three in Kansas, two in Tennessee, one in Indian territory, four in Arkansas,
two in Texas, eight in Mississippi, two in Alabama, and only five in
Missouri. At least three biack families owned real estate, with lots clustered
on K Street on the uplands to the west of the commerical district.

Late in the Civil War, African-American sfaves from Missouri moved to
Kansas and settled at Quindaro, as well as at Leavenworth, Atchison, and
Wyandott. Nelson's {1934) study of Missouri slavery from 1861 to 1865
indicates that by 1863 slaves in Missouri were deserting their owners in
droves. Ie estimates that as many as 10,000 had moved to Kansas by 1865,
an estimate that is confirmed by the 1865 Kansas census, which fisted a total
of 12,577 African-Americans in Kansas (including 1504 in Wyandotte, 3374
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in Leavenworth, 613 in Atchison, 2078 in Douglas, 787 in Doniphan, and
808 in Bourbon counties). The 1864 Missouri census indicated that there
were not more than 22,000 slaves and not more than 60,000 blacks in the
state. There previousty had been about 112,000 slaves in the state in 1860.
Articles in Kansas City papers describe these refugees moving through the
streets of Kansas City in groups of 5-100, inciuding some in wagons,
presumabiy on their way to Kansas (Kansas City Journal of Commerce, April 9,
1863).

The 1865 Kansas census indicated there were 429 African-Americans
living in Quindaro Township. The birthplace of their children suggests that
most had come to Kansas after 1863, since over 70% of the children born in
Kansas were under the age of two years. Of this total, 248 fisted their
birthplace as Missouri; an additional 78 listed Kentucky, a state from which
many Missouri slave owners had come, as their place of birth. This confirms
that the overwhelming majority of the black newcomers to Quindaro were
from Missouri. The 1865 census indicated that the Joseph Taylor, Jackson
Harris, and W. Pope families were tiving in Quindaro, thus indicating a
continuity in the Quindaro black community from 1860 to 1865.

The addition to the existing community of the black refugees late in the
Civil War and the freedmen after the war resulted in the development of an
African-American community named Happy Hollow (McKay and Schmits
1986). This community primarily consisted of residential occupations
located to the west of the landfill project, adjacent to the then-existing black
community. This occupation apparently was located along Big Eddy Creek
in the western portion of Section 30 above Nearmans Landing and later, in
the 1870s, spread east into town-site residences that were still owned by
Euroamericans and were located along Quindaro Creek. I'hotographs
indicate that the commercial district and the area of the town site east of
Kansas Avenue were deserted by the mid-1880s (Figure 5). Figure 5 shows
that all of the frame buildings had been torn down and only the ruins of the
masonry buildings still were standing. The area of the town site east of
Kansas Avenue and south of Main Street was a cultivated field. A late-
nineteenth-century farm house is standing near the intersection of Sixth
and R streets.

The Reverend Eben Blachley founded a school for blacks on the town
site. The exact date of the founding of the school is uncertain, but the
school, according to Smith (1966), was in operation as early as 1865. This
school served as the basis for the founding of Freedmans University. The
Leaverworth Daily Conservative (February 18, 1867) reported that George
Veale, a former Quindaro merchant, had donated a stone building and that
Charles Robinson had given his remaining interest in the town site to
Freedmans University, The institution was described as owning 700 acres of
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Figure 5. General view (to the south-southeast) of the abandoned town site in the
1880s. At the time, the area of the site east of Kansas Avenue, which consisted of a
cultivated field and frame buildings, had been removed and only the ruins of
masonry structures were standing. Kansas Avenue extended up the biuff to the right
of the building ruins. Courtesy of the Kansas City, Missouri, Public Library.

land, inciuding several residences and a great many lots. This news report,
however, is not quite accurate since deed transfers indicate that in 1868
Freedmans University acquired approximately 160 acres of the abandoned
town site, which consisted of the area from L Sireet east to Y Street and
from north of Eighth Street to the river. This area, approximatcly one-fourth
of the original town site, was acquired for a total of $2579.75 in tax sales. I"lat
maps dating to the 1870s and 80s (Heisler and McGee 1870; Hopkins 1887)
indicate that the remainder of the town site consisted of small, privately
owned tracts. The location of Blachley’s school is uncertain, but it was most
likely located in Fielding Johnson’s house at 83-85 R Street. George Veale,
Fielding Johnson's son-in-law, quitclaimed this property to Freedmans
University in 1868 for $1200 (Wyandotte County Registrar of Deeds Bouk
K:279). The 1879 Heisler and McGee plat map of Wyandotte County shows
Blachley at this location in 1870.

In 1877 Blachley died and the university passed into the hands of the
African Methodist Episcopal Church, who chartered it under the name of
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Western University. In 1899 the state appropriated funds to establish an
industrial department, and Stanley Hall was erected in 1901 {Smith 1966).
Western University buildings (Figure 6) were located on the bluff overlook-
ing the ruins of the original town-site’s commercial district, on the north-
west corner of the present-day intersections of 27th and Seweli streets in
Kansas City, Kansas. In 1911 a statue of John Brown was placed in front of
Ward Hail. Buildings associated with this institution have all been de-

stroyed in recent years.
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dings in the 1920s.

Figure 6. General view of one of the Western University buil
Courtesy of the Kansas State Historical Society.

ARCHAEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATIONS

The commerdial district of the Quindaro town site was located along
Kansas Avenue, the principal north-south street extending south from the
wharf up the bluff slope (Figure 7). Since 1857 the river has shifted slowly to
the north; it originally flowed against the biuff and exposed a rock bench
that was located immediately north of the present railroad grade. The depth
of the water adjacent to the bench formed a favorable landing for steam-
boats. Two principal commercial streets, Levee and Main, bisected Kansas
Avenue along a west-northwesterly to cast-southeasterly axis. Streets
numbered Third-Eighth extended east-west, perpendicular to Kansas
Avenue and south of Main on the original plat. Lettered north-south streets
(A-Y) extended from Eighth Street north to Main.
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Only a few of the platted lown-site streets were actually graded, and
none appear to have been paved. Kansas Avenue was mamawa south from
the wharf and up the bluff as far as Sixth Street. Excavation never was
completed through the top of the bluff. The indentation immediately south
of the intersection of Sixth Street and Kansas Avenue on the 900 {t contour
interval is the termination of the grading (Figure 7). The wharf along wrm
Missouri River was graded. Levee Street was graded near its intersection
with Kansas Avenue and most likely along the bluff as far east as the
sawmill (Location A). Main Street was graded near its w:ﬂmnmmn:oﬂg.i:r
Kansas Avenue. Streets N, O, and P most likely were graded from Eighth
Street as far north as Fifth Street. R Street, located east of Kansas Avenue,
provided access to the river in the late nineteenth and early gm:.:ﬁ#
centuries and most likely was graded from the bluff as far north as Main or
Levee streets. Fifth Street probably was graded from N or O streets east lo
Kansas Avenue, and Sixth Street was graded most likely from Kansas
Avenue east to R Street. o

The archaeological excavations at the Quindaro site have been r:::& to
the proposed BFI project area, and within that area the investigations were
restricted further to the area south of the pipeline corridor, the intended use
area of the proposed landfill. This area (Figure 7} includes the part of the
town site from L Sireet east to U Street and from Main Street south to
Fighth Street, and principally consists of the southern part of the main
commercial district {along Kansas Avenue between Levee and Fifth streets),
a smaller cluster of commercial buildings located to the south on the bluff
slope, and several residences located to the west along a smali z.oz‘rmmm”mn_%
flowing tributary creek that bisects the project area. The majority of the
original town-site residences, as well as the school and nr:nnr.mm: were
located on the uplands to the south and west, outside the BFI project area.
While the majority of these remains have been destroyed by Somw:,,
development, archaeological remains, as well as a number of standing
structures associated with the original town site of Quindaro, are most
tikely present in the surrounding community adjacent to Em project area.
The eastern part of the town site (east of R Street) was heavily &Bmmma.vw
Interstate 635 construction, and the northern part of the project area, which
includes most of Main Street and Levee Street, had been damaged earlier
by pipeline construction. .

The archaeological investigations within the BFI project area ~o.nmn.ma a
total of 26 features—including the foundation remains of 20 main buildings,
two outbuildings, three wells, and one cistern—associated with Em Quin-
daro town site (Figure 7). Many of the additional 11 stone quarres, four
bridge abutments, four retaining walls, and two lime kilns shown in Figure
7 probably are associated with the original town site but could be later
developments. In addition to those structures located archaeologically,

histcrical research indicates the presence of an additional 17 town-site
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structures located in the project area. These structures are referred lo as
Historical Locations A-U (Figure 7) and principally are located in the
pipeline corridor and the areas disturbed by Interstate 635 construction.
Access roads through the project area and rechannefization of Quindaro
Creek also destroyed several of these structures.

The 1987-88 archaeological excavations were concentrated in two prima-
ry areas—the southern part of the main commercial district along Kansas
Avenue between Main and Fifth streets {(Figure 8) and a residential area
near the intersection of Fifth and O streets (Figure 9). Preliminary work also
was completed at the second cluster of commercial structures located on the
biuff slope just north of Sixth Street and Kansas Avenue and at a number of
the residential structures located between Fifth and Seventh along N and O
streets.

The northern portion of the town’s commercial district was located along
Levee and on Main Street adjacent to Kansas Avenue (Figure 8). Both of
these streets have been bisected by the petroleum pipeline corridor.
Archaeological and historical research indicate that four warehouses were
located on Levee. Feature 2 is the limestone foundation of the O H.
Macauley warehouse that was located at 76 Levee. A number of businesses
operated at this structure, incuding Simpson and Macauley Forwarding
Agents (who advertised in the Chindowan from May to October 1857), Alfred
Tuttles Groceries and Provisions {who advertised from November 1857 to
May 1858), R. P Gray & Company real estate and land agency (who
advertised from June to September 1857), and Corey and Yarnell auctioneers
and real estate agents {(who advertised in June 1858).

A second warehouse immediately west of Feature 2 at 77 Levee (Location
B) was under construction by Frederick Klaus in the spring of 1858. The
Chindowan {(April 13, 1858} indicates that the second story of this stoue
building with a brick-and-iron front was completed by April 3, 1858; however,
deed transfers indicate Klaus mortgaged the warchouse in May of 1858
{Wyandotte County Registrar of Deeds Book D:193). He failed to pay off the
mortgage and the property was foreclosed on in December 1859, It is
uncertain whether construction was ever completed.

Directly to the west of Klauss warehouse at 78 Levee was George Park’s
warchouse. Abelard Guthries diary (1858-63) states that a hard rain on
August 26, 1858, undermined the foundation, thereby fracturing the wall.
This structure is almost certainly the four-story, limestone-masenry buitd-
ing, whose photographed remains oftenn have been misidentified as the
Quindarc House ruins, in the foreground of Figure 5. The rear of this
building was adjacent to the creek, requiring the construction of a storm
drain along the rear of the structure. The three warchouses at 76, 77, and 78
Levee were damaged badly by the pipeline construction that went through
the middle of the three structures. However, remnants of the foundation
footings and the base of the front walls along Levee still may be present,
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The fourth warehouse was located across Kansas Avenue at 82 Levee and
was operated by Hall, English, and Henderson. Advertisements in the
Chindowan from May to November 1857 indicate this firm was a forwarding
and commission agent that also sold groceries.

The Quindaro Steam Sawmill Company (Location A) was located on the
bluffs, a considerable distance east of the wharf at 33 Levee. It was operated
by A. J. Rowell and Otis Webb from April to June 1857, at which time the
partnership was dissolved and the business was carried on by Rowell. In
early June 1857 the sawmill was enclosed by a heavy frame building and
four additional saws and a lathe were added (Chindowan, June 6, 1857).
Julius Fisk acquired the sawmill sometime prior to 1860. The Wyandotte
Commercial Gazette (December 8, 1860) indicates that the sawmill burned on
December 3, 1860, and several thousand feet of lumber, along with the tools
and machinery, were destroyed. There was no insurance, and it is unlikely
that the mill was rebuilt.

Four structures were located on Main, including the Gorton Building at
161-65 Main Street. Hartford Fire Insurance Company (n.d.) records
indicate that this was a two-story frame building with a store on the first
floor and offices on the second floor. The W. H. McCown Company
advertised in the Chindowan from this address from April to June 1858.
These iots may have been subdivided, and an additional structure may have
been erected on the rear of these lots fronting on Kansas Avenue because
the Chindowan (April 24, 1858) indicates that the johnson & Veale Dry
Goods and Groceries Store was erecting a three-story stone structure with a
brick-and-iron front on the corner of Kansas Avenue and Main Street.
Whether this structure was ever completed is unknown. Archaeological
remains on these lots include massive limestone foundation footings
(Feature 4) eroding out of the bank of Quindaro Creek toward the rear of the
tot (Figure 8). Whether Feature 4 consists of the footings of the Gorton
Building, the Johnson and Veale store, or the western edge of a bridge
abutment for Kansas Avenue is uncertain.

Five additional historical structures were located on Main Street (Figure
8). The Quindaro Meat Market (Location E), which was operated by Peleg
Caswell and Lewis from Qctober 1857 to June 1858, was located at 140 Main
Street. Thomas P (¥ Mera advertised a taitor shop (Location F) at 138 Main
Street in the Chindowan from May to June 1858. The Shepard & Henry
Hardware Store advertised in the Chindewan from May to September 1857
from 149 Main Street (Location ) and from 179 Main Street {Location ]}
from September 1857 to June 1858. Alfred Gray, an attorney, advertised
from 149 Main from May to September 1857 and from 179 Main from
September 1857 to June 1858. H. . Downs Boots and Shoe Store advertised
from 177 Main from September 1857 to June 1858. The W. J. McCown Dry
Goods and Grocery Store (Location 1) advertised from 172 Main Street from
October to December 1857,
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Description of the 1987 Excavations

The 1987 excavations focused on the commercial district at Fifth Street
and Kansas Avenue (Figure 8). Kansas Avenue was bulldozed in the 1960s
during the construction of a powerline that extended up the bluff (Figure
10). Fortunately, construction down the center of the street avoided many of
the building remains. The building foundations on the lower left of Figure
10 are on the southeast corner of the intersection of Main Street and Kansas
Avenue and include the Wyandot House Hotel (lower), the Jacob Henry
commercial building (middle), and the Otis Webb commercial building
(upper). The excavations in the Jower right of Figure 10 are at the Quindaro
House Hotel, which is Jocated on the west side of Kansas Avenue between
Main and Fifth streets. To the south, across the modern access road, the
Upson and Ranzchoff commercial buildings are located on the southwest
corner of Fifth Street and Kansas Avenue.

The Wyandot House Hotel, located at 2 Kansas Avenue was owned and
operated by E. O. Zane from May through December 1857, at which time
operations were taken over by John Stewart (Chindowan, December 19,
1857). A jeweler, Z. Hughs, also adverlised from this address in the
Chindpwan from January to June 1858. The buiiding consisted of a 25-by-40-

35 : o P AP
Figure 10. Acrial view {to the south-southwest) of the 1987 excavations between
Main and 5th streets along Kansas Avenue. The powerline corridor corresponds Lo
Kansas Avenue.
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ft, two-story frame structure set back from Kansas Avenue (Figure 8). ,:.5
foundation remains (Feature 6) indicate the Wyandot House had a partial
basement located beneath the front of the structure and footings that
extended to the east and supported the rear of the structure (Figure 11).
Archaeological remains present in addition to the basement walls and
foundation footings include a mortar-lined cistern (Feature 64), located
outside the northeast corner of the structure, and a basement entryway on
the north. Intact mid-nineteenth-century artifact deposits, primarily do-
mestic and architectural debris, were located in the cistern.

Figure 11. Location of commerical buildings on the southeast corner of Main Street
and Kansas Avenue: Wyandot House Hotel (left), Jacob Henry Building (center), and
Otis Webb Building {right).

Hartford Fire Insurance Company (n.d.) records .:a._nmw.m Em; the Jacob
Henry Building at 4 Kansas Avenue was a three-story building .::: was
completed in 1858 and consisted of a basement, a store on the .m:.mﬁ floor,
offices on the second floor, and a public hall on the third. The building r.ma
a brick-and-iron front and a tin roof. The first floor was occupied by the Fisk
and Richmond Mercantile Store in 1860 (Kansas Tribune, September N.o,
1860). The archaeological remains of the building Ammﬁznm 3 North} consis-
ted ¢ a 25-by-86-ft, limestone-masonry foundation with attached areaways
at both the front and the rear of the structure (Figure 11). A set of piers

LARRY J. SCHMITS
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bisecting the front and the long axis of the building provided internal
structural support. The building also contained the base of two brick
chimneys near the rear and a long subbasement brick floor drain that was
capped with flagstone and extended from the rear of the building to the
front areaway. Thu internal fill of the Jacob Henry Building consisted of a
zone of brown silt which thickened toward the rear of the building and
contained a series of cultural zones, with mid-nineteenth-century artifacts,
above the basement floor. The lowermost zone contained architectural
debris that is most likely associated with the initial construction. Military
artifacts along with other debris, presumably assuciated with the Union
troop occupation, were located in the middle zones. Higher frequencies of
domestic and architectural debris were recovered from the upper zones,
suggesting a possible later residential occupation. The mid-nineteenth-
century cultural zones were overlain by a thick zone of wall debris covered
by an organically rich zone containing modern trash.

The Otis Webb Building (Feature 3 South), located at 6 Kansas Avenue,
was a 25-by-66-ft building with an attached front areaway. This structure
shares a common wall with the Jacob Henry Building. An interior walt
separated a front basement room from a rear room with a watk-in cntryway.
No concentraled artifact deposits were located. Little historical documenta-
tion is associated with this building other than evidence confirming that it
was of masonry fabric, that it was used at least once as a meeting hall, and
that Charles Robinson owned a part interest in the structure. Two grocers
who advertised their business in the Chindowan—W. Lansing (November
1857-April 1858) and Rollin Richmond (March-June 1858)—at Fifth Street
and Kansas Avenue could have been Jocated in the building.

The Quindaro House Hotel was located between Main and Fifth streets
at 1-5 Kansas Avenue. A number of sources including Harrington (1935)
and Greenbaum (1982) have attributed a late-nineteenth-century photo-
graph of a large masonry building to be the ruins of the Quindaro House.
This is an error, and in reality, the structure shown in the photograph is
Park’s warchouse at 78 Levee Street. No evidence of masonry foundations
associated with the hotel were located by the archaeological excavations.
Contemporary news in the Chindowan indicate that the Quindaro House
Hotel was a 40-by-70-ft, five-story frame structure that could accommodate
250 persons. The hotel was one of the first structures completed by April
1857. Philip Colby and Charles S. Parker were proprietors of the Quindaro
House from April 1857 to June 1858. Johnson and Veale advertised a dry-
goods-and-grocery store in the basement of the Quindaro House in the
Chindowan {rom May 1857 to June 1858. Other businesses that advertised in
the Chindowan as being operated out of the hotel include R. C. Anderson’s
Quindaro House Leasing Agency and Kansas Claim Agency (from August
1857 to March 1858) and O. A. Bassett Surveyor (from November 1857 to
March 1858). Bassett also advertised as Bassett and Brackett Land Agents
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(from November 1857 to March 1858) and as Blood, Bassett, and Brackett
Real Estate, Surveyors, Engineers (from May to November 1857).

The archaeological remains of the hotel consist of plaster wall debris
associated with the south wall and several shallow limestone piers associ-
ated with the southwest cormer of the structure. Two trash dumps, an
outbuilding, and a well also were located on the lot. Two rows of stepped
limestone, located along an east-wesl axis, almost certainly consist of
shallow stair footings that extended from the rear of the structure to the
outbuildings. The easternmost set of piers is 25.6 m (83.9 ft) from the front
of the lot. The first trash dump was located in a trench 3.0 m wide that
extended along the southern boundary of Lot 5 on Kansas Avenue. This
trench may have been a diversion ditch to channel water around the hotel.
Artifacts recovered from the trench consisted mainly of architectural debris;
most items were window glass. A long zone of plaster debris 50 em wide
extended along a trench 3.0 m (9.9 ft) from the front of the lot, 18.9 m (62 ft)
to the rear. The zone of plaster is 12.1 m {39.6 ft) west of the boundary
between lots 1 and 3 and almost certainly delineates the interior wail of the
structure.

The second trash dump was located to the rear of the northwest corner
of the hotel and consisted of a 14.3-by-6.7-m (47-by-22-ft) concentrated
cultural zone located on the original 1857 surface. The majority of the
artifacts from this deposit consist of domestic refuse, mainly faunal re-
mains. The Feature 76 outbuilding, focated to the rear of the hotel, consists
of the masonry footings of a small structure that is 3.9-by-4.4% m (12.8-
by-14.4 ft). The interior fill contained two artifact zones above and below a
zone of wall debris. This structure is most likely the remains of an 8-by-10-it
building that is referenced in the Chindowan as having been the first
building erected on the site early in 1857 and temporarily used as an office
by the town company (Figure 12). lce was advertised in the Chindowan as
being available from Hodges at the rear of the Quindaro House from July to
August 1857, and this temporary structure could have been used sec-
ondarily as an ice house. A well {Feature 77) was iocated along the north
side of the hotel and extended to a depth of 7.0 m {23 {1} (Figure 13). The
lower 4.0 m (13 ft) contained a concentration of timbers, probably derived
from the demolition of the Quindaro House, The base of the well wall was
set into the north-stoping bedrock face; the north part of the base contained
a zone of lime paste underlain by hawthorn branches that were weighted
down by several rocks that covered a row of charred logs. This basal feature
of the well clearly was prepared intentionally rather than being accumtlated
fijl.

The two commercial buildings on the southwest corner of Fifth Street
and Kansas Avenue (features 7 and 62) include the ]. B. Upson Building at 7
Kansas Avenue and the Ranzchoff Building at 9-11 Kansas Avenue (Figure
14). Both buildings probably were two-story, frame structures that rested on
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_ﬁm:mm 12. View to the southeast of the outbuilding and the probable town company
office located in the rear of the Quindaro House Hotet,

Figure 13. General view of the well located north of Quindaro House Hotel.
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masonry footings set into the colluvial side slope. Excavations _Onmx.d a
comcentrated artifact zone near the base of the limestone-masonry footings
in both buildings. Based on the amount of charcoal and Em_.»ma glass
present, both buildings appear to have burned. The Upson wEEEm was a
25-by-50-ft structure that housed a number of businesses, including the
McCown Merchantile {which advertised in the Chindowan from November
1857 to June 1858} and the R. P Gray & Co. Real Estate Office ?\Emr
advertised in the Chindowan from October 1857 to June 1858). The Chin-
dowan newspaper office was located in the building from September 1857 fo
June 1858, and the Quindaro Town Company offices also were located in
this building. Printers type, printing press pasts, and U,mzmnw parts,
presumably associated with the town telegraph, were found in Feature 62.
The Ranzchoff Building at %11 Kansas Avenue was a 40-by-35-t, two-room
structure, from which the Ranzchoff Clothing and Shoe Store advertised
{Chindvwan, October 1857-June 1858).

The Hiram Hill Building {Feature 11) was located upslope from the
Ranzchoff clothing store at 21 Kansas Avenue. This building m._u_um._,mEE was
a frame structure built in April 1857. The archaeological remains inciude the
limestone-masonry footings for the east, south, and north walls cm a 25-
by-50-ft structure. Franklin E. Byrd mortgaged 10 beds and 36 chairs from

Figure 14. View to the northwest of the Upson and Ranzchoff buildings at 7 and 9~
11 Kansas Avenue, respectively.
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the Hiram Hill Building for $72 on October 31, 1857 (Wyandotle County
Registrar of Deeds Book D:99), suggesting that it initially may have served
as a boarding house. Dr. R. C. Anderson also advertised his medical office
in the Chindowan at this location from November 1857 until April 1858.

A second smaller cluster of commercial structures was located on the
bluff slope between Fifth and Sixth streets on Kansas Avenue. The 1987 test
excavations located the remains of four structures {features 8, 53, 54, and 63)
on the east side of Kansas Avenue and the remains of a structure and an
associated well and outbuilding on the west side of Kansas Avenue (features
9, 58, and 59). The four features on the east side of Kansas Avenue are
located adjacent to each other on a relatively levet bench just east of Feature
9. Feature 8, located at 34 Kansas Avenue, consisted of a 25-by-52-fL,
limestone-masonry basement foundation with an attached arcaway along
the front. No historical information has been located concerning the
structure at 34 Kansas Avenue. The ruins of this structure were stil}
standing in the 1880s photograph and indicate that it was a three-story,
limestone-masonry structure (Figure 3).

Feature 53 is a smaller 18-by-22-ft, limestone-masonry foundation [o-
cated at 36 Kansas Avenue. An advertisement in the Chindowan indicates
that a storehouse was located on Lot 36 Kansas Avenue from September to
November 1857. Feature 54, located at 38 Kansas Avenue, was a 20-by-41-{t,
limestone basement foundation with a front stairway leading to a basement.
Aninterior well was Jocated to the rear of the structure. The Peoples Variety
Store was operated by A. C. Strock, who advertised the store in the
Chindowan from May 1857 to June 1858. Dr. J. B. Welborne also advertised
his medical office at this address during the same interval. Feature 63
consists of the limestone-masonry rear footings of a structure located at 40
Kansas Avenue. Assuming that this structure fronted on Kansas Avenue, it
would have been a 20-by-40-ft structure. A delinquent tax list published in
the Wyandotte Commmercial Gazette (July 2, 1864) indicates that H, G. Otis was
the owner of this lot prior to 1860. More extensive excavations were
conducted in 1988 at features 9, 58, and 59, which are located at 39 Kansas
Avenue. Fealure 9 consists of the masonry remains of a 25-by-45-ft,
commercial structure with an attached areaway on the front of the structure.
A well (Feature 58) also was encountered directly behind this structure, and
the remains of three piers associated with an outbuilding (Feature 59) svere
uncovered at the rear of the lot. No historical records have been located
concerning the identity of the features on this lot. The excavations recovered
minimal artifacts, and it is likely that the structure was never completed.

Description of the 1988 Excavations

The major focus of the 1988 work was the excavations of three residential
structures located just south of Fifth and O streets. Feature 68 is the remains
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of the Frederick Klaus residence, which was erected in 2._3\ 1857 at 13 O
Street. Klaus operated stone quarries and was one .om the primary builders at
Quindaro. Advertisements in the Chindowan c.:mg. his nm.mam:nm Mm_ a
limestone-masonry structure that was an example A.Um his rma.a@omw mﬂ. ﬁmﬂ._mﬁ
quality of stone from his quarries. The archaeological remains indicate tha
it was a 25-by-38-ft, rectangular structure with an m:mn_._mh rear w.:nrm:_ mm”
into the colluvial hillslope (Figure 15). The m@::ﬁn: portion of :»M M.:mn ned
rear kitchen is approximately 1.2 m (4.0 ft) higher than the ﬂoon of the BM:M
structure and contains the base of a brick cooking feature with m:.mmm_oem m:
pit immediately behind the rear wall of the front room. A gap _.:r" wm Mﬁ.m
provided access from the kitchen to the front anteroom. The brick fea :nr
most likely is the base of a bake oven, and the pit probably is an as
chamber.

Figure 15. General view (to the west) of the Frederick Klaus residence at 13 O
Street.

This rear kitchen of Feature 68 probably represents a _.:E-::.gmﬂmm:z,ﬁm
century variation of a German Schiwarze kueche or Em.nx kitchen. This type M
structure survived in Germany until the :,_E-E:m"mmbﬁs nmsﬂpg mza
examples have been recognized in Wisconsin msnm mccm, mum omﬁ_wm mh,m
probably exist in Missouri, Similar types Q.O:Fr Gm. ing ovi ns are
commen in Pennsylvania and basically no:m_mﬂ_c* a square, m»m hed
masonry structure with a tapered chimney. While they are most o
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detached, they also can be attached to the rear of residences {Noble 1954,
The German black kitchens were derived from Pomerania and originally
contained openings for loading a stove from the adjacent anteroom,
feature similar to that found in the Klaus home.

The second residence excavated in 1988 {Feature 20) was al 19 O Street
and was owned by Charles Morasch from April 1857 to October 1858 and by
Phitip Hescher from October 1858 until January 1859, at which time the titke
was transferred back to Sarah Morasch. Chester FHubbard purchased the
property in 1863 and sold it to Henry Brown in 1867; Martha Tillman
purchased the property in May 1879 (Wyandotte County Registrar of Deeds
Book A:3; Book 12:336, 393; Book F:324; Book L:354; Book N:341). The
archaeological remains include the limestone-masonry footings of a small
frame structure (Figure 16). A twentieth-century rechannclization of the
creck bisected the structure; however, the south wall and parts of the cast
and west walls were preserved, indicating a length of 17 ft and a width in
excess of 13.8 fl. A lime-mortar platform was connecled to the southwoest
corner of the structure and extended o the rear of Lot 21 on O Street. This
rear structure is either a patio or the foundation for an attached outbuitding.
Both the structures are located on the flood plain of Quindaro Creek. The
rear platform was buried soon after occupation by alluviation sealing in an
intact artifact deposit above the floor.

il
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Figure 16. General view {ta the southcast) of the residence at 19-21 O Styeet. The
house foundation was bisected by creek rechannelization; a mortar platform was
located ko the rear of the southwest corner of the structure,
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While Morasch, a grocer wha had m::_:mmwmmng from EQE:W. s.mw zmm
original owner, it is doubtful that be qmm_moa on :S. property. T ::M.
Muhiebach Boot and Shoe Manufacturer advertised at this _Cnm:c%_ in ;
Chindowan from August to September 1857, 2 C. Muhlebach Cobbler wmm.m
advertised his address as 17 O Street from October Hmmm” to June 1858, mwmmw
George Muhlebach Saddles and Harness for the period Z&lc:m& P58,
However, the rechannelization of O:Enmwﬁo Mummmwmwmwmwmwﬂwnﬂm:mcw
arche ical remains at 17 O Street, e : )
ﬂwﬁ%"m“omrmw Chester Hubbard was a 36-year-old literate white m:_m“m m”M_H.
Ohio. No occupation is listed for him; ro€m<mm the Wyandotte ; cz::MTn-
Gazette (February 20, 1864) notes that Flubbard's steam mr%ﬁms.mv szrmﬁm
turing broom handles at this time. ﬁwm m:wmrmm ﬂﬂﬂcﬂﬂw m«wwm_ﬂw Mwm o

ion or floor for a shop attache
”MMM MWM“M—_“MDMM the shoe factory mzﬂq_%o_. as the broom-handle factory.
artha Tillman was not listed in the 1870 census,

?T%”M uw___a residence excavated in 1988 :um.m:_% GV was located at .No m
Street and was owned by Robert Kelly, an H:m.r imumigrant laborer ﬁ_ﬁ_wcmm °
1860. The archaeological remains include the rEmmﬂo:m-Emmo:Q N,.m ote
5.24-by-4.11-m (17.2-by-13.5-t) basement foundation with an en Jﬂ”\mw‘z:
the front of the lot (Figure 17). The steps of the basement waﬂu\imw ..M.:mm i
visible in the profile. The detached footings to the w.oﬁr likely supp ried an
attached room which may have been a porch or kitchen. A privy a
located at the rear of this lot,

3

i
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Figure 17. General view (to the southeast) of the Feature 19 cellar ?E_wau”_o? M”M
?WEEm Robert Kelty residence. The stairway to the cellar was located along
northwest corner of the structure.
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This structure was situated on a low terrace, and, since
flooding, it was occupicd until the carly twenticth cenlury. While the
structural remains date to the late 1850s, the archacological remains
primarily date to the fate nineteenth century. Deed transfers indicate that
Mary Thompson of Wyandott had acquired the property after 1860 and then
sold the structure to William Meyer in 1872 (Wyandotte County Registrar of
Deeds Book 42:610), The 1875 Kansas census indicates that Wiltiam Mevyer
was a 50-year-old illiterate black laborer from Missouri with a wife and two
children, An informant also recalls a Meyer family fiving in a two-story
structure prior to 1918 (McKay and Schmits 1986). The archaeclogical
assemblage recovered almost certainly dates to the Mever occupation.

Limited work also was conducted at the Quindaro Brewery {Feature 34)
at 4147 N Street in 1988. This structure, built in 1857 by Jacob Zehntner and
Henry Steiner, was standing well into the twentieth century when it was
used as a residence (Figure 18). The Zehntner-Steiner partnership was
dissolved in 1858, and the property was transferred to George Bodenburg
in March 1859 (Wyandotte County Registrar of Deeds Book A2, 310; Book
1:12). The deed transfers clearly indicate that the structure
brewery but a combined residence and bar room
the property include a stable, a small dwelling house
brewery. Shortly after acquisition
included constructing a beer cell
and adding to the bre

it was safe from

was not the
. Detached structures on
, and the actual
, mo&mscc_.m made improvements that
ar in the rear, remodeling the bar romm,
wery. Bodenburg’s business evidently fajled since he

s, 4
Fig

! o - B N
ure 18. Early .S.E;_.E__.nn::_Q view of the Quindar
This structure was actuatly a combined bar room-restdence
ar outbuilding located ta the rear. Courtesy of 1he Kansas

Erk; FVE A
0 Brewery at 4147 N Strect.
The actual brewery was
State Hislorica! Society,
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was unable to pay for these improvements and the property was sold for

back taxes in 1862 (Wyandotte County Registrar of Deeds Book 4:35).

The remains of the front of the 25-by-30-ft, bar room-residence structure
are still standing, as is the beer cellar in the rear (Figure 19). The lower ?m::
facade consisted of coursed ashlar limestone with the upper facade being
brick; cut sills and corner goins were used. The side- and qmm,...s.mz .Enmmmm
were roughly coursed rubble walls. Excavations Hm<mm.:wg an interior rear
wall to a small basement that may have been the original beer cellar. A
doarway provided entry through this wall into the G-gﬁ.um..:. beer-cellar
addition that was constructed of coursed rubble wals with an arched
ceiling.

.Em..:m 19. Present-day view (to the northwest) of the Zehntner-Steiner bar room-
residence and the attached rear beer cellar.

Albert D). Richardson, a resident of Sumner and author of Beyonl .:a
Mississippi (1867), visited Quindaro in 1857 and reported the following
episode from the Quindaro brewery.

Quindaro was distinctively a temperance town, Lots
had been deeded with the express stipulation that
they should not be occupied by liquor sellers. Still
several low groggeries, fountains of cm&. habits m:.a
worse whisky had arisens to fright the isle from its
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propriety. All the leading women joined in a pelition
to the men "to take speedy and efficient measures for
casting out the vile demon.” The meeting accordingly
selected three of its members to appoint a vigilance
committee of twenty, to cast out the vile demon. It was
organized forthwith, and sallied out at daylight the
next morning. The first saloon was kept by a her-
culean German who, refusing to give up his keys,
retreated behind his bar, pointing two enormous self-
cocking six-shooters at the invaders, and swore he
would blow out the brains of the first man molesting
him or his whiskey. Several of the visitors also drew
revolvers, but the German’s eye was wicked, and they
hesitated. Their leader, a lithe, young man, armed
only with a whale bone cane, had served in Lancs
army and smelt gun powder. Turning to his compan-
ions said quietly: ‘Kill him, boys, if he shoots me.’
Then he sprang over the bar and wrested both revolv-
ers from the plucky but overpowered Teuton. But
suddenly the German's wife, awakened by the noise
rushed from her bedroom to the scene of conflict
dragging a clothes-line which had caught her foot,
and which was about the only thing in the line of
clothes adotning her person. She flung hard words,
broken English, and afl other loose artictes she could
lay hands upon, at her unceremenious callers. but
they unlocked a cioset, rolled out and emptied two
casks of whisky, and one of brandy...Two other
saloons were similarly visited and purged. Neither ale
nor beer was destroyed; and just after sunrise the
committee separated for breakfast.

v

’

Two additional residential structures (features 23a and 23b) were jocated
south of Sixth and O streets, and one structure {(Feature 51) was located just
north of Seventh and M streets (Figure 9). Little historical decumentation is
available regarding these structures, and their association with the Quin-
daro town site is based principally on their posilion on town-site lots.
Further work, however, could indicate that they were constructed after the
demise of the town since the Quindaro plat was not vacated until 1872.
Testing indicates that the archaeological remains of all three consist of
Hmestone-masonry cellars or combinations of cellars and footings. Artifacts
recovered indicate later nineteenth-century occupations. Feature 23a, lo-
cated at 6668 N Street, is a 13-by-11.5-ft cellar foundation with an entryway
along the north. A wall extending east from the cellar suggests the presence
of a two-room, 13-by-23-{t structure resembling a hall-and-parlor house.
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The 1886 Edwards plat map indicates ]. Williams was living at this location.
Feature 23b, located at 70 N Street, is a two-room cellar foundation with an
entryway on the east; the floor plan suggests a hatl-and-parlor rc.cmm with
an attached room, perhaps a kitchen, on the south. Tax records indicate that
Thomas Kane owned Lot 70 on N Street prior to 1860. The 1886 Edwards
plat map indicates 5. Seals was living at this location, while the 1875 census
lists a Susan Seals, a 23-year-old illiterate. The heirs of 5. Seals sold the
structures referred to as features 23a and 23b to S. C. Hogg in 1923. Feature
51, located at 99 M Street, also is a small, rectangular, 11.3-by-12.5-ft,
limestone-masonty cellar foundation. This structure was standing until the
1960s.

The position of a number of additional commercial structures and
residences within the BFl project area have been established through
historical research, although their archaeological remains apparently have
been destroyed by modern development. Commercial structures include the
H. | Fairbanks, Winchier and Company Blacksmith Shop at 46 N Street
(Location K) and the J. A. Bartles Meat Market at the corner of Seventh and
N streets (Location L). Residences include S. N. Marchant at 65 R Street
(Location Q), John 5. McCorkle at 69 R Street (Location R), George Veale at
78-80 R Street (Location S), C. H. Carpenter at 16 5 Street (Location T), and
Thomas B. Saddington at 33-39 V Street (Location U).

QUINDARO AND THE KANSAS CONFLICT

A number of controversial claims have been made regarding the
Quindaro town site. Two of the more important of these claims are the
association of the site with the Kansas Conflict and with the underground
railroad. The interpretation of the development of the town as a result of the
altruistic motives of northern abolitionists engaged in the struggle to make
Kansas a free state is perhaps best espoused by Smith {1966) and Green-
baum {1982). Greenbaum (1982:13-12) states:

The town of Quindaro was founded by a coalition of
Wyandotts and the Emigrant Aid Co....Quindaro was
at one and the same time a boom town on the western
frontier and a paramilitary outpost in the abolitionist
crusade to eliminate slavery.

Smith (1966:11) even attributes the demise of the town site to the end of the
conflict over slavery in Kansas.

Quindaro’s initial purpose and role during this period
had been absolved by other towns along the Missouri
River and in the Kansas border. In effect, Quindaro
found it necessary to die when ail the other river
towns adopted its faith in the rights of men.
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While these views are colorful, they have little to do with historicat facts.
The association of the development of the town with the New fingland
Emigrant Aid Company rests largely on Charles Robinson’s past association
with that organization prior to the founding of Quindaro. This view ignores
the fact that he had officially severed his ties to the limigrant Aid Company
prior to the founding of Quindaro and that by early 1857 the Emigrant Aid
Company, by investing in Atchison, was competing with Robinson and his
associates in establishing free-state control of a port along the Missouri
River. The Quindaro Town Company was promoted principally by Robin-
son through the Boston Kansas Land Trust, a real estate trust headed by
Joseph Lyman and largely consisting of northeastern investors desiring to
profit from investments in Kansas lands. The hostility toward northern
immigrants by prosiavery communities such as Leavenworth and Atchison
at the height of the Kansas Conflict in 1856 actually gave Kansas land
agents, such as Robinson, the opportunity to promote new town-site
development as safe ports of entry for northern smmigrants. Few of the
northern investors lived in Quindaro or ever visited it. Most of the residents
were businessmen interested in capitalizing on the anticipated immigrant
trade, or were builders and laborers associated with the early phases of
canstruction,

The suggestion that Quindaro was established for altruistic motives to
combat the spread of slavery fails to take into account that the overriding
issues in Kansas by early 1857 were real estale speculation and the
acquisition of Indian lands, rather than the issue of slavery (Gates 1954). The
Kansas Conflict which had erupted in civil war in the summer of 1856 was
largely resolved by the end of the year, and proslavery and free-state
interests were collaborating in business ventures designed to promote
railroad connection to their town-site developments. The association of
Samuel Pomeroy with prosiavery Benjamin Stringfellow in Atchison 1s but
one example, and the association of the free-state leader Charles Robinson
with proslavery Joef Walker in the Quindaro venture is not unusual when
viewed in this context. The prevailing attitude in 1857 is best expressed by
Pameroy in a letter to Amos Lawrence dated December 19, 1856. He stated
that the future of Kansas never looked so bright, everybody's atlention was
turned to getting rich, real estate was rising rapidly, railroads and Indian
lands were ail the rage, and ‘we don’t think or care now whether the taws
are ‘bogus’ or not” {Lawrence n.d.).

Both Berwanger (1967) and Rawley (1969) also have documented that
many free-state settlers in Kansas were against slavery because they were
nonslaveholders and did not want blacks in Kansas, This seemingly
paradoxical viewpoint has been discussed in some detail by Malin (1984)
who attribules this cultural trait to the background of the majority of most
settlers who were from the border states north of the Ohio River where
“black laws” outlawing free blacks were in force. The antiblack attitude of
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Kansas freestaters is perhaps best illustrated by the m !
clause passed by the Topeka Constitutional Convention in 1835. The Topeka
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mMovement, which began as a protest against the fraudulent territorial
elections of 1854 and 1855 and the policies c*. the prostavery .@cm:m
legislature, ultimately resulted in the Topeka Constitutional Convention of
1855, which prohibited slavery but also provided for a referendum mxn:.a-
ing free blacks from the state. Antislavery Kansans approved the constitu-
tion by a vote of 1731 to 46. Of the gwwm votes cast on the Negro exclusion,
vored it and only 453 opposed it. .
GmwzmwmmmmOcrﬁma r%& one cmm.rm larger black ﬁo?.:m:oq.—m in the mwmﬁm.ﬁ vm
previously noted, the U.S. census lists a total of 30 for O.Es.aﬁo Township.
In comparison to other Kansas towns, the black population in Zn_.:m.os was
29 and in Fort Scott was 19. However, by far the largest black population was
i snworth where it totaled 252.
" ﬁmeMrm_”:ﬁmmm of the Quindaro townspeople ﬁos.mﬁ blacks are expressed
by news items in the Chindowan. In july 1857 gw Chindowan reported ::M
the Quindaro Literary Society discussed the issue of whether nc—o:.w
children should be allowed in the same day and Sunday schools as white
“hi ut thev came to no conclusion.
Q:_Mﬁmwmﬁm“m% ww his mayoral inaugural address AQ:”E.*SE:. mmem.Q .Mc.
1858), noted that the Quindaro town charter had provisions for establishing
free schools for white children and “also a separate school for colored
children.”” Gray further stated:

The provision, which thus keeps the two races from
mingling together in our common schools, will meet
the unqualified approbation of the Majority of this
community, and, without doubt, the m.xﬁm:mznm of a
reasonable period of time, will convince all of H.rm
wisdom and expediency of this measure. But S&:mn
the unfortunate class is denied the privileges .E.n_n_ma
to social equality, it would be manifestly unjust 1o
deprive themn of the advantages of an ma.;nm:o:.. It
would seem most humane and more consistent with
sound policy, to take prompt measures to provide for
an efficient school for them.

Gray's belief that separate schools for white and colored children s_omcE
be supported by the people of Quindaro was born out ..cw the results 0 _ws
election heid on May 18, 1858, The two questions listed on the ballot
concerned Negro suffrage and the issue of wo.tm_.mﬁ schools. The nmmﬁmﬂmm
reported by the Chindowan (May 22, 1838) indicated that 30 people <9_m oﬁm
Negro suffrage and 20 against. Forty-five voted for separate schools an

eight against. . . .
While the majority of the Quindaro residents were from states compris
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ing the Old Northwest Territory, they were certainly tolerant of blacks
within their community. Wiile a majority (60%) supported black suffrage, o
large majority (85% ) were for separate schoobs. Since Nugro suffrage did not
come to Kansas until passage of the Fifteenth Amendment, the Quindato

townspeople were certainly progressive and ahead of their time in regard to
black voting rights.

THE LEGENE OF THE UNDERGROUND RAILROAD

The interpretation that Quindaro served as a major point on the
::.amnmﬂc::m railroad is a commoniy held belief in the current folklore of
this area. The oral tradition associating the underground railroad with
Quindaro has been included in a number of historical studies (Farley 1956;
Greenbaum 1982; Reid 1969; Smith 1966), which have been the source of
much of the recent controversy regarding the site. Farley’s 1956 association
of the site with the underground railroad is based principally on a letter to
.Em Wyandotte Gazette (December 29, 1882) from Mys. C. 1. H. Nichols who,
in a rather romantic recollection of her early days in Quindaro, recailed the
escape of at least two slaves through the site in 1857-58.

mwa‘m (1969) principal sources are county histories by Morgan (1911) and
ﬁm:.,:mgn (1935). Upon rechecking these sources, one finds that Har-
rington (1935:227) states that there were several stations on the branches of
.:é underground railroad in eastern Kansas, the most notable being Pardee
in Atchison County. Quindaro is not specifically mentioned by Harrington
as a station, although officers of the system are said to have resided in both
O..hﬁmma and Wyandotte. According to Morgan (1911), slaves in western
Missouri living north of the Missouri River generally escaped to lowa,
while those to the south of the Missouri escaped to points in Kansas.
Quindaro, however, is not specificaily mentioned.

The source for Smith’s association of the site with the underground
.nm:..om& is the oral tradition of the area. Greenbaum (1982) has based her
hterpretations largely on Smith’s study and on informants such as Orin
Murray’s account of his grandfather escaping from Parkville to Quindaro in
1864. Orin Murray’s grandfather, Philip Murray, did move o Quindaro
Township as he is listed in the 1865 U.S. census; however, the 1864 date
suggested by Mr. Murray is several years after cessation of underground
railroad activities along the Kansas-Missouri border.

N O.zm of the most important documents on underground railroad activ-
ities in Kansas is a series of unpublished manuscripts that were written in
#rm. early 1870s by C. E W. Leonhardt (n.d.a, n.d.b). Leonhardt visited
Quindaro in February 1858 to deliver a lecture on the Kansas struggle
(Quindarp Chindoivan, February 6, 1858). Leonhardt, along with j E.
Stewart, conducted the last train on the underground railroad, which left
Lawrence on June 13, 1860. Stewart was a resident of Douglas County and

e
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was not the John Stewart who was proprietor of the S_wma.imo: M.#W.cmm MM
Quindaro. The manuscripts by Leonhardt Bmxmw only _wﬂmm ﬁﬁurmmmwﬁc-
i and indi is tainty of the involvement of this
Quindaro and indicate his uncertain . O o
ity i i 2 ts suggest that other
nity in this matter. These manuscrip
mnnun., as Leavenworth, Wyandotte, Onmmmrcm%mn%m:m: rmﬂamjﬁwm M%m%w%%”m
i in the underground ral
layed a much more prominent role in . . X
m:v.mzn_wﬂo. While Leonhardts document does not provide m:w amﬁm_wmmvm.wm
the underground railroad at Quindaro, rw suggests that i M”w‘maﬁ s
familiar with the involvement of that city in the undergroun ad,
be John Morgan Walden. .
Eoﬂ.w_fm bcﬁwa m¢c<m~m<<m5ms was the editor of "Tm&m::.icﬁsm. IwbmmwwﬂWmnm
fons i traveled widely, speaking 1
free-state conventions in Kansas and : . O o8
i ile at the University of Chicago
the free-state cause. His papers on fi
John Brown and the c:amnmnccsa railroad ﬁ<<m_a.m5 :c&%%ﬂw.ﬂw”whﬁww JM
-state convention, bu g
ad never met John Brown at a free-s : i
W\_mﬁ?mﬁc: to make an address, he was introduced % w ﬁwﬂgﬁ Z%qmmmaéﬁm
i i i state line. Only later an
was traveling toward the Missouri _ iy Jater ane 2 dalden'
i i > tain Morgan was in fact John .
meeting did he learn that Cap _ o s not
i i s i the underground railro
discussion of Browns involvement in : d rail: s not
i r d railroad activities at Qui
mention the occurrence of undergroun m Quindar
iti indi the most important,
@ ! tings indicate that one o .
(Walden n.d.). Waldens wri ‘ . : D
. daro did not even recog
widely traveled free-state jeaders in Quin i P A
i t the involvement of Quindar
Brown and had nothing to say about the u
:waoqmaﬁ:aﬁ railroad, thereby questioning the extent of underground
ailroad activity at Quindaro. i .
' Zmimﬁanmwmn..&mw in the Chindowan also refute E&ﬁqﬂvcﬂ&cwwmmwm
ivi Qui ’ irsti sponse to a story in the ywesip
activity at Quindaro. The first is a respo: . e
! i sidents of harboring escap
Empire that accuses the Quindaro resi . oring eoeaped
] The Chindowan denies this charge and g .
(Chindownn, August 8, 1857). 1o : aIBe T B e
i is ind this incendiary rhetonc |
to claim that the real issue behind t . R o o
iti d trade between Quindaio an port.
competition for the overlan WSt ad
i i ] aper notes that slave b
second article in the Chindowan, the pap  slav e e
i i od slaves. Town officials escorte
come to Quindaro looking, for escaped s i .
,_Mocsa ﬁms\: and even visited black residences to convince them that there
are no escaped slaves harbored there. . . -
w While &%5&98 residents undoubtedly %,__QMQ_mm.nm%mmﬁrw“mﬁwﬁmn_mn Lo
ivi : i ¢ Mrs. Nichols indicates,
the Civil War, as the recollection . _ e
evidence indicating that it was the wonmm of a :%_oﬂ._w%hmr &NMMJHME o
i k » erground ral .
either Lawrence or Topeka, on the un lioad o8 et s 3
iati i ith the underground railroad duvvelop .
association of Quindaro with prol ; By
result of the predominately free-state ﬁr.___o".oﬁrm .cm the ﬂwﬂﬂ_rwﬁmmcw&
inAux of black refugees into the arca late :w smum. ﬁ”eﬁ Emhm wﬁ: e b el
i i iatety after the Civil war, ? .
freedmen into the area immediateiy as well as o
c—.m the placerment of the John Brown statue at Western University. Harring
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noted the legendary aspects of the association of Quindaro

with the
underground railroad when he stated that:

Old Quindaro is rich in tradition because it was the
Free State gateway to Kansas and: naturally, mar-
velous stories would grow on the aid given to escap-
ing slaves and its tunnels, dug to carry surplus water
from the hills, would stretch in imagination, under
the Missouri River and form an important link in the
underground railway. It is not strange that the name
of John Brown should be linked with traditional
Quindaro though there is no evidence that he was
ever in town or connected in any way with ils
development (Harrington 1935:289).

The development of the legend associating the Quindaro site witl the
underground railroad can be reconstructed by examining the newspaper
account, By the end of the nineteenth century considerable public interest
had developed in the ruins of the Quindaro town site. A number of
photographs were taken and a fairly Jarge number of newspaper articles
regarding the town site appeared.

In 1898 an historical reminiscence of Quindaro appeared in the Kenses
City Journal (August 14). The article contained considerable factual, histori-
cal information regarding the town site and noted that the ruins of two
buildings were still present. The article included interviews with Mr, and
Mrs. Elisha Sorter, identified as two early rural settlers who lived northwest
of the town site. Mr. Sorter recalled the initial economic prosperity of the
town site, while Mrs. Sorter recalled that she was afraid of the Indians and
that her children were afraid of the Negroes in the area. No mention was
made of the underground railroad or of escaping slaves through the site.

In 1899 an article in the Kansas City Star (July 16) contained a fairly
detailed history of the Quindaro town site. No mention was made of the
underground raifroad, although it states that soon after the war Negroes
from Missouri lived for a short time in the ruined and deserted buildings.
The article had an illustration of the ruins of Park’s warchouse. The slots in
the walls for the second-story floor joists were identified as portholes for
guns.

In 1905 the (July 2) Kansas City Star published a fairly detailed article,
which contained illustrations of Jim Lane and John Brown, on the under-
ground railroad in Kansas. A map accompanying the arlicle lists Mound
City. Lawrence, Topkea, Oskaloosa, and Holton as underground raitroad
stations. No mention, however, was made of Quindaro or any of its forme
tesidents. An illustration of the underground railroad in operation that
accornpanied the article shows several black refugees with a white driver
and two white horsemen. Later that year the Kansas City Siar also piblished
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a fairly detailed, and for the most part historically accurate, mnno.r:: of Em
former Quindaro town site. No mention of the underground Bu.:émg was
made other than a very brief statement that Abelard Guthrie ran an
underground railroad there during the war. .

_ﬂ mocu the Kansas City Gazefte (March 25) had a news story m:::_ma,
“The tunnel explored,” which detailed the account of >..‘ L. Hovey, a aw
student who had explored a tunnel at what he termed “Fort O:_ﬂn.mmmor
Hovey described the tunnel as an oozy hole next to a wall through Sm _M e
crept downward for about 80 feet until he came upon what he identifie .umﬁm
buried beach of the Missouri River where the passage widened out into
Unmﬂhrymww:mddwwcw of John Brown was erected :.,. front of qu.n_.Im: at
Western University. Accounis mﬂ&nmnmm Hﬂmw noﬁzm_amﬁ&u_m publicity sur-

ed the unveiling and dedication of the statue. ) )

:EMMEG a Kansas %_m:\ Star {May 26) reporier visited z._m. Quindaro 2:_5
and found an unidentified, white-headed old man with a cane who
identified himself as one of the original settlers of ﬂinawno. ,:#.u old E.mﬂ
recounted in considerable detail the events and individuals mmmoemﬁmaméza
the town site, although some of his facts and names were .n_mmm&‘ confuse

with the passage of time. The article had two accompanying _yvﬂwnﬂm:oﬂmﬂ,
one showing Park's warehouse and the mmno:a. the opening Awm the ME,. .
The old man recounted the following information about Park’s warehouse.

Down at the rear of that building you see what
appears to be a neglected cave. Many a fanciful story
has been written about that hole in the ground. They
have called it a cave where the whites hid from the
indians. Then they have turned the story around .m:_&
called it a cave where the Indians hid from the whites.
If you look into it you will find a tunnel. 1t runs clear
to the river and it was not a freight mcvsﬁ% as one
eloquent writer described it. No, it was a plain, every
day sewer, whereby Colonel Parks was mE.m to dump
the refuse from his warehouse and send it down to
the Missouri River. Just a plain sewer.

In 1913 the Kansas City Sun (April 25) published a letter from a ?mr
school student addressed to 5. N. Simpson, one om.ﬁrm founders .m:g Hﬂdm
superintendent of public works for the mozdwu. Quindaro town m:_mm : Am"
student indicated that he had visited the ruins where he was to ha
Quantril had a fort, now represented by a ﬁmm.c.m rocks, near Er.n%mm_r.mam is
a small opening in the ground represented to visitors and school chiidren as
the mouth of a tunnel. Simpson replied:

Neither Quantral [sic] nor any other person ever had a
fort at Quindaro. The pile of rock was formed by a
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stone building. The hole in the ground was formed by
a trencly, walled up on each side and covered over and
used as a roadway to the bridge.

The initiai newspaper interest on the Quindaro site from 1882 to 1913
mainly cited informants who had lived at the town site. For the most part
these accounts are accurate. However, in 1915 a rather imaginative article
appeared in the Kansas City Star (April 25). The article entitled, “A sleepy
hoilow in Kansas,” contained the following.

Hidden away beneath a crumbling stone wall and a
tangle of vines, on the site of Old Quindaro, is a cave,
hoary tradition.

If the folkiore of the oldest negro inhabitants of the
district be worthy of belief, the big cavern in the
hillside is the last remnant hereabouts of the famous
“underground railway” system that sheltered thou-
sands of northward fleeing slaves.

And, if there be trath in the tales handed down from
father to son concerning those days of nearly a
century ago, one of the half dozen ruined stone walls
of the gloomy ravine supported the house occupied
for some time by John Brown, champion of liberty.

By day, the cavern is shunned by the sturdiest negro
of the nc_c:w. And by night, from the black depths of
the haunted hole, myriads of misty shapes slip forth
'tis said—the disembodied spirits of blacks who died
in its moldy depths while evading pursuit...

Just beneath one of the walls of the warehouse, peeps
the entrance to the haunted cave.

Fifty yards farther up the gulch stands another vine-
covered heap of stones, a lonely marker of the john
Brown house. On all sides are dense thickets and little
gullies that conjure up in the mind pictures of black
forms slinking through the night from the waters
edge to the safety of the endless cavern.

It is almost a haven, but not quite, {for many a man,
and woman, too, and child entered the black, mouth
of the hole never to come forth, trapped like a rat by
the close pursuers.

From the old John Brown house is seen the Missouri
River slipping silently on its way. On the far side is the
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state of Missouri, half free in those days, half slave-a
sorry refuge for the fleeing negro. Here, in the tangle
of undergrowth, is Kansas, all free and a haven for the
black man who crossed the river in safety and reached
the security of the cave....

There was a time, some years ago, when a venture-
some spirit betook himself with a spade into the dark
recesses and attempled to burrow through the debris
to find the hidden mysteries beyond....

The effort to get through the mass of fallen rock was
unsuccessful and the spirits of the gaunt black men
and women hide in peace by day and slip through the
chinks of the falling rocks by night to cross and
recross the tiver that meant so much to them in their
dreams of freedom.

The mysteries of the old cavern belong to the beautiful
blossoming hill, to the river, and to the shades of John
Brown and his associates.

In 1932 the Kansas City Star published captioned illustrations entitied,
“The stroller visits Old Quindaro.” The captions to the illustration identify
one of the masonry structures as the hotel where Abraham Lincoln rm.a
stayed, and the mouth of the tunnel near the remains of a Emﬂmro:mm. is
idendified as the old siave tunnel. A slave hideout was described as being
present in the rear of a former residence which the caption states later
became a brewery. ) o

That same year, Western University (1932} published its Emwo:.nm_
statement in its biennial report containing much of the same information
reported by the Kanses City Star stroller. The account (Western Cz.:mmqm:%
1932) states that the Massachusetts Aid Society founded the city of
Quindaro in 1844, that they built a beautiful and elaborate stone hotel
where the immortal Abraham Lincoln stayed for three days, and that john
Brown established one of the principal stations on his underground railroad
at Quindaro and that it included a stone-and-brick tunnel buik through the
hill so that boats bringing Negroes from Missouri might pass through. The
account states that William Tecumseh Sherman, Horace Greeley, and Susan
B. Anthony all received their inspiration there, and that, therefore, “the
ground was both sacred and historical.”

John Brown's whereabouts in Kansas have been documented by numer-
ous biographies {e.g., Connelley 1900; Hinton 1894; Malin .H@pmn O.m:.wm

1984), and there is no evidence that he ever visited Quindaro. Lincoln did in
fact spend seven days in Kansas in 1859 visiting Troy, Atchison, Dn.a
Leavenworth (Basler 1953). These visits are wetl documented, and there is
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no evidence that he stayed in Quindaro. Sherman lived in Leavenworth
from September 1857 until June 1859, when he went into law practice with
his brother-in-law, Thomas E. Ewing, Jr. (Merriil 1971). Again, there is no
evidence of his having established a law practice in Quindaro.

The number of news stories associated with the Quindaro ruins
decreases in the 1930s and 40s, probably due to the destruction of the ruins
by the construction of a gas pipeline through Levee Street in the late 1930s.
However, beginning in the 1950s, a series of historical studies focusing on
the former town site appeared, including Farley’s “The annals of Quin-
daro,” which was published in the Kansas Historical Quarterly in 1956. This
was followed by Thadeus Smith’s Masters thesis on Western University
(1966) and by a rather lengthy class paper by Sandra Reid of the University
of Missouri (1969). In 1982 the city of Kansas City published Susan
Greenbaum’s study of the African-American community in Kansas City,
Kansas, which included considerable information on Quindaro. The most
recent historical studies accepted as historival fact much of the lucal
tradition associating the site with the underground railroad, although both
Smith and Greenbaum state that the local tradition is parily legend,
especially the association of John Brown with the site. Nevertheless, they
both exaggerate the association of Quindaro with altruistic motives of
northern abolitionists engaged in the struggle to make Kansas a free state.

While much has been written about the underground railroad, more
recent scholarly studies have emphasized the legendary aspects of the
institution. They have noted that aithough the underground railroad was a
reality, much of the material refating to it belongs to the realm of fotklore
rather than history (Gara 1961). The legend of the underground railroad
had its origin in the antebellum period when an image of the mysterious
institution, based in part on propaganda stalements of abolitionisls and
their southern opponents, began to take shape. However, the great bulk of
material on the subject appeared after the Civil War when ciderly abolition-
ists toid, in reminiscences and late-nineteenthi-century hislories, of their
part in the institution. According to Gara (1961}, these individuals enlarged
the scope and exaggerated the importance of the underground railroad and
thus contributed to what he refers to as one of America’s best known but
least-examined legends.

The western or Kansas-Nebraska underground raitroad came into
existence following the settiement of Kansas in the mid-1830s, and most
accounts date its operation from about 1857 to 1861 (Leonhardt n.d.a, Nable
1977). The main stations on the soute were the free-state towns of Lawrence
and Topeka. The northward route generally foilowed the Lane Trail, which
was opened by free-state settlers in 1856, and extended north from ‘Topeka
to Holton and then north to Nebraska City where it crossed the Missouri
River into Towa. The best known episode of the western underground
railroad was the raid made by John Brown into Vernon County, Missourl, in
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December 1858 (Figure 1). This raid liberated 13 slaves who were then
escorted by Brown to Lawrence, Topeka, and then on the Lane Trail out of
Kansas Territory {Merkle 1943; Noble 1977). - o
There are no good estimates as to the number of fugitives that travele
over the western underground railroad, but the number probably did not
exceed several hundred. Missouri census data indicate that there were
90,000 slaves in Missouri in 1850 and 111,000 by 1860, The m_m<o.ﬁoﬁc_m:c:
was associated with the plantation economy, which .msﬂ.vrmmummﬁ hemp
production, and was concentrated along the Missouri River valley ?ouw_
jefferson City west to Kansas City and from Kansas City :o:r_ﬁ.c St. Joseph
(Gerlach 1986). The 1860 Federal census records enly 23 fugitive m_mcmmli
including eight from Platte County and one each from Clay and FML son
counties—for the preceding year along the Kansas-Missouri border. News
iterns and reward notices in Kansas-Missouri border newspapers from wm»m
to 1861 document at least 46 fugitive slaves in this area, again suggesting
the presence in this area of a relatively small number of fugitive slaves prior
to the Civil War (Schmits and Verbrugge 1988} .
Review of the available information concerning the underground rail-
road in Kansas and Missouri—including published Uomrm.AZOW.wn 1977;
Siebert 1898), journal articles (Merkel 1943; Nelson Eu&.. individuatl ?:ﬂ-
tives of escaped slaves (Still 1871; Rawick 1941), along with a study by the
author of Missours and Kansas border newspaper accounts from H.m»m to
1865 and the considerable documentary data associated with the O::.ﬁﬂo
site—reveals no evidence that a significant aumber of biack fugitives
escaped through Quindaro prior to the Civil Em.h. As a matter of EQ;:&
only account of a contemporary eyewitness detailing the escape of a s uﬂm
through Quindaro prior to the Civil War is the account of Mrs. Nichols. The
historical evidence does not suggest that Quindaro ﬁ_mwm.a any greater ﬁmzm
in the underground raifroad than many of the other territorial river towns
along the Kansas-Missouri border and certainly less than many m:n.: as
Topeka and Lawrence, where considerable underground raitroad activity
appears to have taken place. )
tt: has been _uo::matoi that since helping escaped m_m.<mm in .z\_m 1850s
was a violation of the Fugitive Slave Law, the facts concerning "rm:.mmnmﬁmm
would not be reported. While this is an important consideration, ﬁ.rm
extensive written documentation by individuals intimately mmmoﬁﬁ.m.a with
the Quindaro site (e.g., Guthrie 1858-63; Robinson 1892) and the é:::mm o,m
many of the Kansas abolitionists involved in the underground railroad fail
to mention the presence of any type of abolitionist plan to route slaves
through Quindaro. e
By the mid-1860s, biacks entering Kansas Emﬁm.ﬂﬂ:mmmm from the Ewa
and the disintegrating institution of slavery, not fugitives being pursued by
bloodhounds and stave catchers who were aided by the underground
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raitroad. The April 9, 1863, Kansas City Jowrnal of Commerce tells of a
procession passing through Kansas City of 85-90 former bondsmen that
comsisted of six wagons, one carriage, five horsemen, and ten footmen.
Another note on April 25 states that a group passed through the city in a
buggy on which was written in large letters, "IMMEDIATE EMANCIPA-
TION with Transportation and without Compensation.” The reference to
emancipation without compensation referred to the current political debate
in Missouri regarding the emancipation of slaves and various proposals Lo
compensate their owners (Bellamy 1971). The recently published letter of
Benjamin Franklin Mudge dated February 1862 detailed the assistance
provided to eight contrabands (Mudge 1991). The siaves were moved to
Leavenworth where a large contraband community was Jocated. This letter
indicates that attempts were made by slave owners as late as 1862 to secure
the return of their slaves, although this was increasingly uncommon as the
state emancipation movement grew in Missouri.

The contradiction between the historical record and the local tradition
associating the Quindaro site with the underground railroad lies principatly
in the confusion of pre-Civil War fugitive slaves with Civil War black
refugess or contrabands. The breakdown in the institution of slavery in
Missouri in the mid-1860s, along with the freeing of slaves by Union arnsies,
created an incredible refugee problem along the Kansas-Missouri border.
Estimates suggest that as many as 10,000 former slaves had moved to
Kansas by 1865. Newspaper information indicate that the exodus had
started in 1861 and had gained considerable momentum in the spring of
1863. A number of these people settled in the vicinity of Quindaro. Census
data shows that the black population of Quindaro Township grew from 29 in

1860 to 479 in 1865. Most of the new residents appear to have arrived after
1863.

SUMMARY

The Quindaro site is an historic archaeological site that largely consists
of the remains of the Quindaro town site, a predominantly Euroamerican
Kansas territorial river port which was founded in 1857 and which was
largely deserted by 1862. The site is also the location of a post-Civil War
African-American community, often referred to as Happy Hollow, which
grew into one of the major African-American communities of Kansas City,
Kansas. Late in the nineteenth century the site became the location of
Western University, the first black school in Kansas. Buildings associated
with Western University were destroyed in the 1960s.

The Quindaro town site was one of a number of mid-nineteenth-century
ports developed along the Kansas side of the Missouri River following the
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sas—Nebraska Act, an action which opened Kansas for

Prior to the advent of railroads, the principal route of

d freight into the new territory in the mid-1850s

o Missouri River. The town site was located on

at to the Missouri River, just above the conflu-

ouri rivers. This position, adjacent to the first
cutbank of the Missouri River west of the Kansas-Missouri state line, was
about two miles south of Parkville. The river flowing against the bedrock
bluff at this point formed a natural landing. Access to the landing was
provided by a small tributary stream leading to the uplands beyond. From
this point overland transportation for freight and passengers could be
arranged either by road or by smaller boats up the Kansas River to interior
towns such as Lawrence. To a large extent, Quindaro could be considered a
port for Lawrence. The New York Tribune on June 19, 1857, stated:

The new town of Quindaro, which was qmmmama as
the port and harbor for Lawrence on the Missouri,
though founded only some three or four months
since, has a free school, a free-state newspaper, and
connections with Lawrence by road, with good sub-
stantial bridges across all the streams.

Wyandot allotments adjace
ence of the Kansas and Miss

The layout of Quindaro was typical of a river town with the street
system designed to serve the riverfront and the levee. Wholesale and retail

establishments occupied locations most convenient for unloading and

distributing. The principal north-south street was Kansas Avenue, which
ial district

extended from the wharf south up the bluff. The commerct
primarily consisted of a row of warehouses on {evee Gtreet adjacent to the
wharf and the retail and business establishments werc located along Kansas

Avenue and Main Street. The position of these establishments took advan-

tage of the access to the landing provided by the small tributary stream.

The warehouses were Jocated on the siopes of this narrow valley while the
businesses and retail establishments were located at the foot slope of the
bluff and on the terraces of the creek. The warehouses most likely were
used for storage; however, one contained several offices.

The principal retail business district was located along Main Street near
its intersection with Kansas Avenue and south along Kansas Avenue;
fourteen siructures were located in this area. Six structures faced Main
Sireet and housed a surveyor, two attorneys—who also dealt in real estate—
a tailor, a meat market, @ hardware store, @ dry-goods-and-grocery store,
and a boot-and-shoe store. Most of these structures, as well as the
warehouses along Levee, were within the pipeline corridor and were
damaged heavily by pipeline construction. The part of the business district
extending along Kansas Avenue south to Fifth Street was better preserved
and was the focus of the 198788 excavations. Structures located here
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inchide two t . N .
real estate o:meﬁm_M.R‘MU”MWMCB:M.HE~ buildings housed two mercantiles, a
the largest ’ per office, and a clothing-and-shoe NP
mmncsam:oo“”ﬂ%w%%mw wrm Jacob Henry w::&zmwu housed :MHMMM G:o_i
dealt i ront mmﬁ:w: lie rm_: on the third foor. Two physicians “..e_”vﬂ_“ ME
. ate, were locat Sleians, who atso
commercial district, ed at the southern edge of this north
A second sm
a .
bluff slope near _Ah”.m.mmﬂu:n of mcEEQDm_ structures was located on tl
ing view of the rive va wvenue. This location would have held a comma Fwo
rocery-and-dry- cwﬂw: wharf. w:mm.:Wmmmm located here included a (;_,.,,._Hﬁ -
were located at m%ﬁ.. w store, a physician, and a druggist. m:m:,mm»mw Jn_.w
ot N atooate no,,rm ra ﬁmmammnm.m between Fifth and Sixth streets, m_o:, ,,%
boot-and-shoe Em:_.ﬁmm” and adjacent to Quindaro Creek. These w_\,_n._:a,wﬂ a
bar, a wagon-and-bla _N_.An urer, a saddle-and-harness shop, a brewer Jp:m
residences were mnm_mmm ME_”: shop, and another meat market. S_r:cwm ﬂ?.. ;
Kansas Avenue, a n E_u along the bluff on P and R streets cast and west :,*
Fifth and Om:a. mmX»MB Ma were located along the ereek in the EQ::, of
w0 churchos. ad s an Z streets. Most, however, along with the ﬂn:wc_
south and west of M_W_ﬂmm%_”dh_. s..m_% to have been located on the bluffs to the
. ercial distri i N
project area, al district, outside of the proposed landfill
Developme ;
edly xcvawo:Mn MM D:Eama began in January 1857, The plan, undoubt
England Emigrant Mm%.ﬂEmm essentially the one developed E.‘. the ZE‘.‘
hotel and a saw EE, ompany and consisted of the construction of ;
could acquire Jumb wo :dmm new arrivals would have a place to stay M
and major develo er for _QEEEm houses. The town grew rapidl ,:“ZMHW
the boom began W,Bw:”m continued into early 1858. However, —,:.%_i :wa\
dose. In Hmmmm”rm nM alter, .m:am .E\.Hmmoig businesses were wcwm:nzw_ y wm
was quartered in 1 mmercial district was deserted, and the Union ¢ _y .w
i 1663, aoeaedin Ma nwmmmzma buildings. These buildings were fairl u_<_u.$.
collapsed. <<r:mm % the mnncc:m of C. M. Chase, but by the mm:wﬂ_mw\cﬁ mn“
occupation of the umMmMcmg.:mmﬂn ial section of the town became aofg,._._%”
. ential structures a ind; ) ’
w_:‘ﬂ_cf.mlcor_ﬁm the site continued fong Quindaro Creek and on the
he initial Qui .
community s:ﬁ%r _Mcn,_mﬂwwnmm_::m:wé wssm predominately a Lusoamerican
X € ack families located : . ;
western ede ’ K ocated along K Stree N
the Toter vaﬁommﬂm town site. This black community mﬂﬁm:amﬂ MM nw_w_ w_u»
contrabands from m\mvwmw_ Sh:hcm to the influx of black Emmmm__.mw Hw
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ward, acquiring : : nurity grew, it expan o
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There are a .
In 1858 _.T”w :m:““\ﬂ_wﬂ.ﬂ of ;_,mmczm for the failure of the Quindaro town site
on many other s c _%_Smm.mCS began to take its toll on Quindaro, as sw _,_b_:r.
1983; Gatos Em%w%rﬂzm amcm_o.ﬁ:ﬁ:a in the Kansas Territory A,E,Gmm_.dﬂ_”
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i r
lowa Point, Delaware City, and Uozﬁw.ﬁ? >nnoa%m"ﬁo wnwwro_mmwwam MMMw”Mm
residents, George Veale (1910), the naming of Wyandot : sﬂw,aow sler becae
Kansas City, as the county seat in 1858 also hurt O::W a S e e
survival. The town’s misfortune suffered m:.:rmﬂ w %% he free s
movement gained control of the Kansas legislature. T M_ Ummn»mﬁm ore:
established towns such as Leavenworth and Wyandott n:_mmmw o ey
state towns, and Quindaro could no longer no::u.ﬁm mmw ﬁ n%cmm Hentty
for northerners. However, _um}mﬁm the most _Bﬁo.n_ m”a ause Hor
collapse of the town was its inability to secure a railro wwgmmo:.m oot

abably can be attributed to a conflict of :zmnmm".o: binsons part
mw,cm:mow: was chief lobbyist for the Parkville Grand River zm: .w_,w%a 1t also
had interests in the Leavenworth, Pawnee, .msn_ Western nm”,_lmw,\m:Eo:r
was headed by Thomas Ewing and was Eo_mn»m& to nc.u:m e
and Lawrence (Gates 1954). Robinson's moﬂmgomﬁ interest was in X
i t to the LPW line.

m:a>wm.,mrw%%mm ﬂwmmw_mwﬁmq? the Quindaro Town mogﬁm.uw was %w,m‘.w“w mm
meet expenses. Abelard Guthrie lost m<ﬂ.<§5m‘mna was Mwwmnnm.mm?nm:nmm e
town’s failure. His diary (Guthrie Mmmm.lmwv nn_:m:gw :._h.:.,mm e
his increasing dissatisfaction with :._m business .mmwmww et
especiaily Robinson’s refusal to pay his debts, and in B e e eited in
a M.:,_mﬂ Robinson. The case was nommam_.mm. by three judges e o moor
ngzmc:w favar (Wilson 1975:60). At the time, the "rnw.m ju m,m cited poot
management on Guthries part; however, there was evi m“nm p: abinsons
nmm:m“o»_ to pay his bills and the matter was never resolve a_:m MB opinson
was Mw_mnnoa the first state governor in .OmntUm.n 1859 and fr

distanced himself further from the affairs of Quindaro.

CONCLUSION

N . A1
The Quindaro town site is best viewed as a B_Q-EMmmwmmn”ﬁmmmﬂﬂnﬁmwz
estate development that, for a number of reasons, fai mm O
eriod of time. To a considerable extent, the Em.E:nmnnm 0 e site lies in 18
m::wm in that it represents an mnnrmmc_omwmmw time capsule ?n%w_” e o
e Om the many competing Kansas territorial settlements e o
wﬂ: the Missouri River. Some, like Atchison and hmméziomﬁ? m%nnm:a X
”Ersmm others, like Quindaro, failed. The site was _m#wﬁwsomﬁwm ,U::&ﬁm
considerable amount of damage from mow":,_m‘ the salv ﬁmm:m:ﬂ iy, &
materials, and hillslope erosion onn.cﬂam& in the late :._Nswmn_ e
was damaged further in the twentieth century by railr : e@%mm e, b
owerline construction, which destroyed the origina wharl A e
molrm:d end of the commercial district. Zo,mmamﬁm_%%w‘m wMﬂM< MM_.E, ns o e
southern part of the commercial district along ,
aﬂﬂ:& m:ﬂnnmﬂmm along N and O streets rme..m cnmm_ _unwmﬂwmp,aﬂ_mgmo S
The architectural remains preserved are limited pr v
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limestone rubble footings and basement foundations. Superficially, these
remains suggests a preference for the use of limestone as a building
material. However, historical data indicate that most of the structures at the
town site, including the hotel, were frame buildings. Many of the commer-
cial, stone buildings had brick-and-iron front facades.

The emphasis on the use of limestone as a building material in Kansas
territorial architecture has been attributed to the large number of German

immigrants and the early settlers with a Pennsylvania Dutch background
(Asbury 1956; Malin 1954}. Both Frederick Klaus and at least one other
brickiayer, B. H. Terteling, were German immigrants and, in general, there
was a fairly large number of German immigrants in the community. The
association of preserved limestone quarries, lime kilns, and structural
remains is an important aspect of the site. Thus, while the above-grade
superstructures of nearly all the buildings are gone, the site has provided
considerable opportunity for the study of the construction sequence—from
the initial quarrying of the building stone to the preparation of mortar to the
construction of foundations and footings.

Intact mid-nineteenth-century artifact deposits were recovered from a
number of the structures, including a varied assemblage from the trash
deposits associated with the Quindaro House Hotel. The remains recovered
include an extensive ceramic and faunal assemblages. Analysis of the faunal
remains will provide considerable information on the diet of Quindaro
residents. Few non-domestic historic ceramic assemblages have received
detailed analysis, and the study of these remains will provide information
on dining customs as well as mid-nineteenth-century trade-and-commerce
patterns associated with the town site. The study of these remains will
provide many details, which are unavailable from the histotical record,
about the town site and everyday life in a Kansas territorial community. The
associated archaeological remains of several late-nineteenth-century
African-American residents are also of considerable significance since few
written records are associated with the early development of the black
community in Quindaro.

The significance of the Quindaro town site principally Hes in two areas.
First, the site contains the archaeological remains of a Kansas territorial
town site that dates to a relatively brief intervat, 1857-62. This time capsule
of archaeological data greatly supplements the information available from
the historical records regarding the architecture, diet, and utilitarian objects
associated with the town-site occupation. Archaeological data is enhanced
considerably by the wealth of documentary data—personal papers, diaries,
and legal documents—associated with the town-site occupants.

Second, the site has considerable significance as a traditional cuftural
property-—it is presently considered to be holy and sacred by a segment of
the local African-American community because of its perceived association
with John Brown and the underground railroad. While this association is
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